THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000058

Case No. 2024-CP-10-02646

Peter Skoler and Patricia Skoler, Appellants,
v.

Vacation Inspirations, Destination Travel, LLC, Joseph Shirley, Randy Gardner, and Jeffrey
Pumilia Respondents,

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

s/David W. Wolf

David W. Wolf (S.C. Bar No. 17041)

DAVID W. WOLF, P.A.

748-D St. Andrews Boulevard

Charleston, South Carolina 29407

Tel. (843) 853-9000

Fax (843) 853-9002

Email: david@wolflaw.com

s/Abby Edwards Saunders

Abby Edwards Saunders (S.C. Bar No. 17234)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER AN ORDER COMPELLING AN ARBITRAL PROCESS LACKING MINIMUM DUE PROCESS GUARANTEES AFFECTS A CONSUMER'S SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT BY DEPRIVING THE CONSUMER ACCESS TO A NEUTRAL ADJUDICATIVE FORUM.
- II. WHETHER THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD FOR MOTIONS TO COMPEL ARBITRATION UNDER THE FAA IS AN ISSUE CAPABLE OF REPETITION.
- III. WHETHER A UNILATERAL ARBITRATOR-SELECTION PROVISION IN A CONSUMER CONTRACT IS FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR AND INVALID UNDER THE FAA.
- IV. WHETHER A UNILATERAL ARBITRATOR-SELECTION PROVISION IN A CONSUMER CONTRACT IS INVALID AS A MATTER OF SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.
- V. WHETHER THE LEGAL STANDARD ON MOTIONS TO COMPEL ARBITRATION UNDER THE FAA IS AKIN TO A SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD.
- VI. WHETHER AN ARBITRATION CLAUSE CHALLENGED AS UNCONSCIONABLE BY A CONSUMER "CLEARLY AND UNMISTAKABLY" DELEGATES QUESTIONS OF ITS OWN VALIDITY TO THE ARBITRATOR BY INCORPORATING THE AAA COMMERCIAL RULES.
- VII. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONDUCT THE FACT-INTENSIVE INQUIRY REQUIRED WHEN AN ARBITRATION PROVISION IS CHALLENGED AS UNCONSCIONABLE.
- VIII. WHETHER A CONSUMER ARBITRATION PROVISION INVALIDATED UNDER BOTH THE FAA AND SOUTH CAROLINA LAW CAN NEVERTHELESS BE SEVERED

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of two Court of Common Pleas' Orders. The first granting Respondents' Vacation Inspirations, Destination Travel, LLC, Joseph Shirley, Randy Gardner, and Jeffrey Pumilia (the "Respondents") Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay the Case under the Federal Arbitration Act (the "FAA") and the second declining reconsideration.

The action was commenced on May 21, 2024, when Appellants Peter and Patricia Skoler (the "Appellants") filed a Summons and Verified Complaint in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (R. _("Compl.").)

The Verified Complaint brings claims under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act ("SCUTPA"), South Carolina contract claims, and other common law claims arising from Appellants' signing of a document titled "Purchase Agreement" containing a "Dispute Resolution" provision (the "Arbitration Provision") as follows:

Any controversy, claim or dispute arising out of or relating to this Purchase Agreement, shall be resolved and decided by binding arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (the "AAA") (however, not under the auspices of AAA) and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The arbitrator shall be selected by VI. Upon final award, arbitrator compensation and cost of the location shall be paid by the non-prevailing party. The arbitration shall take place in Charleston, S.C. at the Charleston County Courthouse or other location determined by VI.

(R. _). Counsel for the Respondents Vacation Inspirations ("VI"), Destination Travel, LLC, Joseph Shirley, Randy Gardner, and Jeffrey Pumilia (the "Respondents") signed an Acceptance of Service on June 5, 2024, and filed their Answer on July 3, 2024. On November 5, 2024, Appellants served written discovery requests on Respondents. Respondents filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings on November 12, 2024. (R. _). By email dated November 22, 2024, Respondents declined to respond to Appellants' discovery requests. (R. _). By notice dated February 28, 2025, the circuit court scheduled oral arguments on the motion for March 27, 2025. Appellants filed a memorandum in opposition on March 13, 2025. (R. _); Respondents filed a memorandum in support on March 25, 2025. (R. _); prior to Appellants' surreply on March 26, 2025. (R. _). Oral

arguments were held before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson on March 27, 2025. (R. _). No trial was held on any issue. On April 3, 2025, Respondents filed a proposed order that was requested by the circuit court at oral arguments. (R. _ (“R’s Prop. Order”).). Appellants filed their own proposed order. (R. _).

On July 25, 2025, the circuit court entered an order granting Respondents’ motion to compel arbitration and staying the proceedings pending arbitration. (R. _ (“Arb. Order”).) On August 2, 2025, Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. _). On August 15, 2025, Respondents filed an opposition to reconsideration. (R. _ (“R’s Recon. Memo”).) On September 4, 2025, Respondents filed an amended opposition to reconsideration. (R. _ (“R’s Am. Recon. Memo”).) On September 10, 2025, Appellants filed a reply in support of reconsideration. (R. _). Appellants’ motion for reconsideration was denied on December 12, 2025. (R. _ (“Recon Order”).)

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on January 8, 2026. Twelve days later, the Court of Appeals entered an Order of Dismissal. Then on February 3, 2026, Appellants filed a Petition for Rehearing. On April 1, 2026, the Court of Appeals granted Appellants’ Petition for Rehearing and reinstated the Appeal. On April 9, Appellants moved to consolidate this appeal with a similar appeal, extend the time to file their initial brief and designation of matter, be permitted to file an enlarged brief.

INTRODUCTION

This case concerns an Arbitration Provision that lacks even basic due process guarantees and is therefore invalid under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) and South Carolina law. The agreement is a consumer contract containing multiple one-sided and oppressive terms, including granting Respondents unilateral authority to select the arbitrator. Appellants signed the agreement in a high-pressure sales environment.

The FAA recognizes arbitration as a legitimate alternative to in court dispute resolution, so long as it provides certain minimum guarantees of due process. Due process is guaranteed by both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution regardless of whether a dispute is resolved in court or through a different “mode of trial,” such as arbitration. A core tenet of due

process is adjudication before an impartial forum. Where an arbitration process lacks neutrality, litigants are deprived of one of the most fundamental “substantial rights”: due process itself.

Although orders compelling arbitration are ordinarily not immediately appealable, this is an extraordinary case in which Appellants’ substantial rights are directly implicated. The trial court’s orders oust Appellants from a neutral judicial forum; compel them to submit to an arbitration scheme that lacks an impartial decisionmaker; and fails to otherwise provide even minimal due-process protections.

The dispute resolution process devised by Respondents and compelled by the trial court amounts to a *sham* process—one so *warped* and void of due process that it cannot serve as a legitimate substitute for adjudication in a court of law. The central defect rendering this process devoid of minimum due process protections—and therefore outside the scope of the Federal Arbitration Act—is Respondents’ unilateral power to select the arbitrator. The Arbitration Provision’s operative language is undisputed: “The arbitrator shall be selected by [Vacation Inspirations].” A one-party arbitrator-selection mechanism of this kind is “fundamentally unfair, substantively unconscionable, unenforceable and void” and it “undermine[s] neutrality and *must fail*.” 1 Oehmke, Commercial Arbitration § 54:5 (emphasis added); *see also id.* § 10:37 (“When one party exercises exclusive control over the pool from which the arbitrator is selected, the selection process is fundamentally unfair and lacks neutrality, preventing arbitration from being an effective substitute for a judicial forum.”); *see also Flores v. New York Football Giants, Inc.*, 150 F.4th 172, 185 (2d Cir. 2025) (“[W]e additionally find persuasive some of the reasoning of the Fourth and Sixth Circuits, respectively, which refused to enforce arbitration provisions because of the *unilateral selection of arbitrators*.” (citing *Hooters of Am., Inc. v. Phillips*, 173 F.3d 933, 939–40 (4th Cir. 1999) & *McMullen v. Meijer, Inc.*, 355 F.3d 485, 493–94 (6th Cir. 2004))) (emphasis added).

Because such an arbitral scheme necessarily deprives parties of “a fair hearing before a legally constituted impartial tribunal,” it lacks “[p]rocedural due process” and therefore affects substantial rights. *See State v. Legg*, 416 S.C. 9, 13, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2016). Where, as here,

an order implicates the fundamental substantial right of due process, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) provides that the order is immediately appealable.

Immediate appeal is not only permitted but required here. Under South Carolina law, “failure to timely appeal an order affecting the mode of trial effects a waiver of the right to appeal that issue.” *Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 266, 491 S.E.2d 240, 241 (1997) (collecting cases). Courts applying the Federal Arbitration Act likewise recognize that “[t]he general rule prohibiting pre-arbitration challenges to an allegedly biased arbitration panel does not extend to an allegation that the arbitrator-selection process itself is fundamentally unfair.” *Walker v. Ryan’s Fam. Steak Houses, Inc.*, 400 F.3d 370, 385 (6th Cir. 2005) (citing *McMullen*, 355 F.3d 485, 494 n. 7). In other words, “‘the arbitral forum is not an effective substitute for a judicial forum,’ and, therefore, the party need not arbitrate first and then allege bias through post-arbitration judicial review.” *Id.* (quoting *McMullen*, 355 F.3d at 494 n. 7); *see also Hooters*, 173 F.3d at 941 (same).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Arbitration Provision is conspicuously embedded within a broader consumer agreement that Appellants allege in their Verified Complaint is unconscionable and contrary to the FAA. The Arbitration Provision empowers the Respondents—unilaterally and without constraint—to select the arbitrator and venue, impose commercial arbitration rules on unsophisticated consumers, bypass any reputable administering body, and, after an inevitably adverse award issued by its hand-picked decision-maker, saddle the consumer with the full costs of the proceeding.

A. APPELLANTS’ HIGH-PRESSURE SALES EXPERIENCE

Appellants Peter and Patricia Skoler are residents and citizens of Massachusetts. (R. ___ (Compl. ¶ 1).) In March 2022, Appellants traveled to Charleston, South Carolina as visitors. (R. ___ (*Id.* ¶ 10).) While walking on a Charleston street on March 21, 2022, Appellants were approached and told they could receive free sightseeing tickets if they attended a sales presentation. (R. ___ (*Id.* ¶ 11).) Appellants later learned the presentation was for a Vacation Inspirations travel membership, distributed by Respondent Destination Travel, LLC. (R. ___ (*Id.* ¶ 12).)

When Appellants arrived at what appeared to be a legitimate Charleston visitor bureau location, they were directed upstairs to a medium-sized room where six or seven mostly older couples were seated at small tables. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 13).) Each couple, including Appellants, met individually with a Destination Travel salesperson for approximately 15 minutes. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 14).) The salesperson rapidly flipped through a notebook that he claimed contained numerous favorable reviews from prior members, but did so at a pace that prevented Appellants from reading, evaluating, or authenticating the reviews. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶¶ 15–16).) When Appellants attempted to examine the notebook themselves, the salesperson immediately removed it. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 17).)

The salesperson asked Appellants about their travel preferences and future plans. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶¶ 18–19).) Based on Appellants’ responses, the salesperson represented that Appellants could expect to save 40–60% on travel costs through the Vacation Inspirations membership. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 19).) Throughout the discussion, the salesperson provided affirming responses designed to convey that the membership was uniquely suited to Appellants’ travel goals. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 20).)

Following the individual meetings, Appellants were subjected to a 45-minute group PowerPoint presentation. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 21).) At the outset, the salesperson stated that attendees were not permitted to use their cell phones and threatened to restart the presentation if phones were used. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 22).) When one Appellant briefly took out his phone to conduct a Google search, the salesperson publicly scolded him and demanded that the phone be put away. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶¶ 23–24).)

Appellants later learned that, had they been permitted to use their phones, they would have discovered numerous negative online reviews of Respondents on platforms including the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs, Yelp, TripAdvisor, and the Better Business Bureau. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 25).) During the presentation, Respondents compared their services to booking platforms such as Expedia and Travelocity, claiming a simpler booking process and superior travel experiences for members. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 26).)

At the conclusion of the group presentation, the salesperson offered a \$2,000 discount to the first couple who raised their hands to purchase a membership. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 27).) Another couple responded almost immediately, creating the impression of a fleeting opportunity. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶ 28).)

Appellants were then approached by a husband-and-wife sales team, escorted into an office, and offered the same \$2,000 “limited opportunity” discount. (R._ (*Id.* ¶¶ 29–30).)

The sales team escalated pressure, namely extending favorable terms, monopolizing the conversation, and discussing aspirational travel experiences until Appellants—worn down by the tactics—agreed to purchase a membership. (R._ (*Id.* ¶¶ 31–32).) The sales representative took out a Purchase Agreement and told Appellants they needed to sign quickly, in stark contrast to the protracted sales pitch. (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 33).)

Appellants were instructed how to complete a Vacation Inspirations Membership Acknowledgment, including being told to answer “yes to everything except no to #10.” (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 34).) Appellants were pressured to sign the Purchase Agreement without an opportunity to read the documents, consult counsel, or meaningfully consider the terms. (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 35).)

Throughout the ordeal, Appellants were subjected to high-pressure and deceptive sales tactics, including a cellphone ban, rushed contracting, representations that the opportunity was available only that day, false claims regarding customer satisfaction, coercive conduct preventing informed choice, and the manufactured appearance of scarcity. (R._ (*Id.* ¶¶ 36–37).)

The Purchase Agreement was a form contract, completed by Respondents using Appellants’ information in select areas. (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 40).) The Agreement contained a buried arbitration clause requiring all disputes to be resolved through binding arbitration under the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules, but not under the “auspices” of the AAA. (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 41(d)).) The clause granted Respondents the exclusive right to select the arbitrator, choose the arbitration location (if not held at the Charleston County Courthouse), and require that the non-prevailing party pay all arbitrator compensation and location costs. (R._ (*Id.* ¶ 41(d)).)

The Arbitration Provision was not highlighted, used no differentiated font, and was never explained during the sales presentation. (R._ (*Id.* ¶¶ 44–45).) The practical effect of the arbitration clause was to grant Respondents unilateral control over the forum, decisionmaker, and costs. The Arbitration Provision also created an *in terrorem* effect that discourages members from pursuing

disputes, and if they do, to subject them to a process structurally predisposed toward a biased outcome. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶¶ 46–50).)

After exiting the facility, Appellants later discovered that the overwhelming majority of online reviews concerning the membership were negative and described the same deceptive tactics, poor service, and substantial shortcomings in promised savings. (R. _ (*Id.* ¶¶ 38–39).)

B. RESPONDENTS’ BROADER SCHEME

The dispute here and the arbitral scheme at issue in this appeal do not exist in isolation. They are part of a broader, multi-state scheme that has ensnared hundreds of consumers over more than a decade. Although Appellants are among some of the first to seek redress in South Carolina, they are merely the latest victims of practices that have drawn repeated scrutiny from state enforcement authorities nationwide, including Texas and Georgia. (R. _) Indeed, there are two other ongoing cases against Respondent with similar allegations in South Carolina courts. *See Perrelli v. Vacation Inspirations*, No. 2024-CP-1004606 (S.C.Com.Pl.), *on appeal*, *Perrelli v. Vacation Inspirations*, No. 2026-000043 (Ct. App.); *Sawyer v. Vacation Inspirations*, No. 2024-CP-1002642 (S.C.Com.Pl.) *on appeal*, *Sawyer v. Vacation Inspirations*, No. 2026-000910 (Ct. App.). (R. _)

In 2012, Respondents Randy Gardner and Joseph Shirley settled with the Georgia Governor’s Office of Consumer Protection resolving allegations they “ha[ve] used, are using, or [were] about to use unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of consumer transactions and consumer acts or practices in trade or commerce as declared unlawful by O.C.G.A. § 10-1-390 *et seq.*” (R. _). The settlement required the payment of consumer restitution and a \$100,000 civil penalty. (R. _)

Five years later, the Texas Attorney General reached a separate agreement with Respondent Shirley and Respondent Gardner following allegations that their travel-service operations violated the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Act and other Texas statutes. Under that agreement, individuals and entities—many of whom overlap with Respondents here—were required to pay substantial consumer restitution, civil penalties, and attorneys’ fees. (R. _)

South Carolina consumers have fared no better. According to the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs, the agency has received at least 130 complaints concerning Respondents’ allegedly deceptive practices since 2014. (R. _)

Vacation Inspirations’ “business model” follows a familiar pattern: unsuspecting consumers are lured to a venue in the Charleston area with promises of “free” gifts in exchange for attending a purported travel presentation—only to discover that those promises come at a price.

This pattern has been publicly documented. In a November 2022 report by WCSC-TV in Charleston, “Customer” complaints with the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs accuse the business of a high-pressure sales situation where they were told how to fill out forms, including checking ‘no’ when asked on the forms if they were pressured into the deal. The same “high-pressure sales situation” described in that report is precisely what the Appellants experienced here. (R. _)

ARGUMENT

Before addressing the merits, Appellants set forth two independent bases for immediate appellate review. *First*, under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330, the order is immediately appealable because it compels Appellants to submit to “arbitration in name only,” a scheme without minimum due process and therefore affecting a substantial right. *See Flores*, 150 F.4th at 187 (an agreement for arbitration that “lacks the requisite independence between parties and arbitrator that is fundamental to the FAA’s conception of arbitration” is “arbitration in name only”).

Second, under *Toler’s Cove*, because the issues presented, including such fundamental ones such as the legal standard on motions to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, are “capable of repetition” and “need to be addressed.” *Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n, Inc. v. Trident Const. Co., Inc.*, 355 S.C. 605, 611, 586 S.E.2d 581, 585 (2003) (recognizing that appellate review is appropriate where issues are “capable of repetition and need to be addressed,” even if the order is not otherwise immediately appealable).

I. THE ORDER DENIES APPELLANTS THEIR DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A DECISION BEFORE A NEUTRAL DECISIONMAKER RENDERING THE ORDER IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330

As a threshold matter, Appellants do not contend that orders compelling arbitration are categorically or even routinely appealable. Nor do Appellants dispute that arbitration frequently serves as an acceptable alternative to judicial adjudication where it provides a fair and neutral forum.

This case is different. The order below compels Appellants into a process that lacks neutrality at its core and therefore fails to provide even minimal due-process protections required by law. That process is not arbitration at all—it is a “sham.” And where a litigant is forced into such a forum, immediate appellate review is required because a substantial right is irretrievably lost.

A. ORDERS AFFECTING A SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT ARE IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(2)

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