**RECEIVED**  
**Jun 11 2026**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson

---

Appellate Court Case No. 2026-000058  
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-10-02646

---

Peter Skoler and Patricia Skoler, ..... Appellants,

v.

Vacation Inspirations, Destination Travel, LLC, Joseph Shirley, Randy Gardner and Jeffrey Pumilia, ..... Respondents.

AND

Appellate Court Case No. 2026-000043  
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-10-04606

---

Frank Perrelli, Jr., ..... Appellant,

v.

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

Moreover, the Appellants' motion ignores the affidavit of Mr. Randy Gardner filed along with the memoranda in support of motions to compel arbitration which proves, without contradiction, that the Purchase Agreement and the arbitration clause have the required nexus to interstate commerce sufficient to invoke the arbitration provisions of the FAA. (Affidavit, R. p. \_\_). See generally, Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 115 S. Ct. 834 (1995). Therefore, under the Federal Arbitration Act, the Court properly determined that it could not decide whether an arbitration agreement applies to the instant dispute since the parties clearly and

unmistakably delegated the question to an arbitrator. The AAA Commercial Rules specifically provide for such delegation to the arbitrator. (Skoler Order, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Order, R. p. \_\_). Therefore, under the Federal Arbitration Act, the Court may not decide whether an arbitration agreement applies to the instant dispute if the parties clearly and unmistakably delegated the question to an arbitrator. See e.g., Masters v. KOL, Inc., 431 S.C. 28, 30, 846 S.E.2d 893, 894 (Ct. App. 2020). The trial court properly agreed. There are no disputed facts to be decided on that issue.

Moreover, under any circumstance, arbitration should be required under the FAA. "[The FAA applies . . . to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce." See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). So long as interstate commerce is involved, the FAA controls arbitration. Mr. Gardner's affidavit provides clear evidence of the necessary involvement with interstate commerce. (Affidavit, R. p. \_\_). The arbitration should be conducted under the AAA Commercial Rules and in accordance with the FAA with any issues regarding arbitrability decided by the arbitrator. The lower court's ruling granting the motion to compel arbitration should be affirmed, and any issues regarding arbitrability should be decided by the arbitrator.

Appellants argue that the court below erred in not conducting an intensive factual inquiry into their claims prior to ordering arbitration. However, such an inquiry is not necessary where, as here, the parties to the Purchase Agreement clearly designated the arbitrator to decide such issues under the rules of the AAA. Moreover, the procedure urged by the Appellants would completely frustrate the purposes of arbitration which is to provide a prompt and efficient alternative to resolve disputes.

315 Corley CW, LLC v. Palmetto Bluff Dev., LLC 444 S.C. 521, 908 S.E.2d 892 (2024) is not controlling or applicable in this instance. In Corley, the arbitration clause precluded treble

damages and other claims pursuant to the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUPTA). No such limitation is contained in the arbitration clause in this case. Additionally, in Corley, the parties agreed that South Carolina substantive law was to be determinative and the Court held that SCUPTA applied rather than the FAA. In the instant case the parties agreed at the hearing before the trial court that the case was governed by the FAA and not SCUPTA. When Judge Jefferson asked counsel at the hearing if the parties were conceding the FAA applied, counsel for Appellants responded “Yes, Your Honor, we are.” (Skoler Hearing Transcript, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Hearing Transcript, R. p. \_\_)

Lastly, the Court in Corley noted in FN 3 that pursuant to the Rent-A-Center West case cited by Appellants (561 U.S.63) (2009), provides that where a delegation to the arbitrator clause is challenged as unconscionable, the Court may decide the question, but “an arbitrator must decide the question if a party merely challenges the arbitration agreement as a whole as unconscionable”. Id. at 71-72. Clearly in the case before this Court, Appellants have challenged the entire arbitration language as unconscionable. The trial court properly followed appropriate law and determined that all issues (including but not limited to unconscionable questions) are to be decided by the arbitrator.

Appellants’ reliance on Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007) is unpersuasive on several grounds. First, the Court determined that the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act (UAA), specifically S.C. Code Section 15-48-20(a), controlled whether the Court or the arbitrator would decide validity of the arbitration clause. Clearly, in the instant case, the FAA and not South Carolina law is determinative. Also, in Simpson, the plaintiff was required to forego certain remedies, which is not the situation herein. And of course, as noted herein, the subject of Simpson was a vehicle needed in today’s world, whereas herein the purchase

was of a “luxury” item, a vacation club membership.

ii. **APPELLANTS ARE PRESUMED TO HAVE READ, UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED TO THE TERMS OF THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION**

Alternatively, regardless of the decision maker, the ultimate question of arbitrability “is a matter of contract interpretation.” See Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, 96 F.3d 88, 92 (4th Cir. 1996) (internal citations omitted).

It is virtually black letter law that anyone who can read is presumed to have read any agreement that person signs. “[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood and assented to its terms.” See Gibson v. Epting, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019) (internal citations omitted). “A person signing a document is responsible for reading the document and making sure of its contents. Every contracting party owes a duty to the other party to the contract and to the public to learn the contents of a document before he signs it.” Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 663, 582 S.E.2d 432, 440 (Ct. App. 2003).

The arbitration provision herein is governed by the FAA and cannot be set aside on the ground that the arbitration clause was not noticed or explained since the party signing the agreement is presumed to have read it. See Munoz, 343 S.C. 531 at 541 n.6, 542 S.E.2d at 365. In addition, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted the following:

“In these circumstances, we are constrained to hold that her conduct, in failing to employ the opportunity and means given her to acquaint herself with the contents of the policy, was clearly a conscious and reckless disregard of her duty in the premises and was a proximate cause of her alleged injury or damage.”

See Hood v. Life & Cas. Ins. Co. of Tennessee, 173 S.C. 139, 146, 175 S.E. 76 (S.C. 1934).

Appellants therefore cannot argue that they did not read or understand the Purchase Agreement and all of its terms, including the arbitration provision, before signing the Purchase Agreement. And as noted below, Appellants had the not to enter into this transaction and simply chose not to

do so before signing the Purchase Agreement. Appellants had a meaningful choice and they accepted the terms of the Purchase Agreement, including the arbitration provision.

**iii. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IS NOT UNCONSCIONABLE**

The circuit court ruled correctly that the arbitration provision is not unconscionable. Neither the Purchase Agreement nor the arbitration provisions therein is on a “take-it-or-leave-it” basis with no negotiable terms and that its evident from the agreement itself. A review of the allegations reveals that Appellants failed to make any effort to negotiate the arbitration provision. Appellants had meaningful choices, they just did not choose to make any of those choices regarding the arbitration provision.

The Purchase Agreement includes an Addendum/Exception (Skoler Addendum, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Addendum, R. p. \_\_), which by its nature was an opportunity to alter or amend the arbitration provision. In fact, as seen on the Addendum/Exception, there are four (4) such handwritten items. None of the four (4) exceptions handwritten involve or address the arbitration provision. Appellants signed the handwritten page with the exceptions. (Skoler Addendum, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Addendum, R. p. \_\_). Appellants had a meaningful choice but apparently chose not to raise any questions at the time of the Purchase Agreement regarding the arbitration provision and Appellants cannot now be permitted to claim otherwise.

Furthermore, the Appellants’ other arguments regarding unconscionability are based on unsubstantiated or irrelevant allegations and cannot be summarily decided by this court. The FAA provides in relevant part that “[i]f the making of the arbitration agreement or the failure, neglect, or refusal to perform the same be in issue, the court shall proceed summarily to the trial thereof.” See 9 U.S.C. § 4. In making such a decision, the court is obliged to conduct a trial when a party unequivocally denies that an arbitration agreement exists and shows sufficient facts in support

thereof. Berkeley Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Hub Int'l. Ltd., 944 F.3d 225, 234 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019). In light of the clear agreement to arbitrate and the delegation of decision making authority to the arbitrator here, the factual review here is not warranted and would defeat the primary purpose of arbitration which is to achieve a prompt, efficient This is yet another reason that supports the lower court's decision to grant the Respondents' motion and refer this matter to arbitration. To the extent that an evidentiary hearing on the issue of arbitrability is deemed appropriate or necessary the arbitrator can hold that hearing.

The claims of unconscionability are unsubstantiated and do not justify overturning the trial court. An example of such an unsubstantiated allegation is the Appellants' claim that the agreement is unconscionable because they were supposedly subjected to high pressure sales tactics. However, item number 10 of the Vacations Inspirations Membership Acknowledgment of the Agreement specifically asks if the decision to purchase was "based on any high pressure sales tactics" and Appellants responded "no." Appellants also signed that page. (Skoler Acknowledgment, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Acknowledgment, R. p. \_\_).

As for the contention that Appellants did not have equal bargaining power, it is noteworthy that this purchase was a travel club membership. It is not an essential purchase such as shelter or even a core consumer purchase such as an automobile. Under any circumstance, Appellants could have just listened to the presentation and left at any time without signing the Purchase Agreement. It is not unusual for those who listen to the Respondents' sales presentation to do only that and then decline to purchase. The request for participants in the sales presentation to turn off their cell phones is not a high-pressure sales tactic. Instead, that request is made prior to the sales presentation because of the expectation that cell phone usage will be a constant distraction during the presentation.

Finally, it is irrelevant that Appellants did not “travel with any legal counsel” or that he did not consult with an attorney prior to signing the Agreement. Appellants cite no support for the idea that a contract is unconscionable unless the parties first have an opportunity to consult with counsel. Also, Respondents did not have any duty to advise Appellants to seek legal counsel. There is no support for the Appellants’ argument that the arbitration provision is unconscionable.

iv. **THE AAA COMMERCIAL RULES OF ARBITRATION PROVIDE THE METHOD FOR APPOINTING A FAIR ARBITRATOR. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT COMPLIES WITH THAT METHOD AND MUST BE FOLLOWED**

Appellants also argue that arbitration should not be compelled because the arbitration agreement that he signed does not provide a fair, unbiased forum. However, an examination of the applicable rule conclusively refutes that claim. Rule R-14 of the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules states in part as follows:

- (a) If the agreement of the parties names an arbitrator or specifies a method of appointment of an arbitrator, that designation or method shall be followed.

See FAA, Rule R-14 (Emphasis added) (Rule, R. p. \_\_). Moreover, Rule R-19(a) states in part as follows:

An arbitrator shall be impartial and independent and shall perform his or her duties with diligence and in good faith, and shall be subject to disqualification for

- (i) Partiality or lack of independence.

See FAA, Rule R-19(a). (Rule, R. p. \_\_). While Rule R-19(b) permits appointment of a “non-neutral” arbitrator, that is not the case here. The arbitration clause challenged by the Appellants merely allows Vacation Inspirations to choose the arbitrator, but it does not relieve the arbitrator selected of his or her obligations under the AAA Commercial Rules to be impartial and independent. Moreover South Carolina ADR Rule 13(d) has a similar provision.

The arbitration provision does not put any limits on arbitrator’s decision-making authority.

No claims are excluded or waived. The arbitration agreement does not include any limits on damages. Appellants are attempting to raise issues that could have and should have been raised in proceedings in the lower court and/or at the hearing and oral argument. Appellants' arguments do not raise any new information that was not available when the lower court made its ruling on July 25, 2025. Appellants urged the court to rule and the court did rule; just not in Appellants' favor.

Contrary to Appellants' arguments, the arbitration provision invoking the Commercial Rules of the American Arbitration Association fully and completely complies with and is in accordance with the foregoing Rules and provides a forum for resolving this dispute by an unbiased arbitrator.

v. **THE COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER ANY ARGUMENT THAT LIMITED DISCOVERY PROVIDES A BASIS TO DENY A MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION**

Appellants also miss the mark in making the argument that the motion should not have been decided because Respondents had not answered discovery. This issue was not raised prior to or during the hearing on the motion to compel arbitration and so Appellants cannot raise it for the first time on appeal. See Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct. App. 1995) (a party may not raise an issue in a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment that could have been presented prior to the judgment); see also McGee v. Bruce Hosp Sys., 321 S.C. 340, 468 S.E.2d 633 (1996) (a party may not raise an issue for the first time in a motion for a new trial).

In making this argument Appellants failed to advise the lower court that on November 22, 2024, Respondents' counsel sent Appellants' counsel an email as follows:

As noted in our motions to compel arbitration in the three cases that have been filed, we have also asked for a stay of the proceedings as there is law in South Carolina that the right to arbitrate may be waived by participating in the proceedings. As such, we cannot answer the discovery you have sent us in the three cases.

See Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, R. p. \_\_\_\_.

Respondents did not ignore the Appellants' discovery requests. Instead, Respondents set forth an appropriate stated reason for not responding to the discovery. See e.g. Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton, 336 S.C. 658, 521 S.E.2d 749 (S.C. App. 1999).

The Respondents' motions to compel arbitration included a request to stay all discovery. (Skoler Motion, R. p. \_\_; Perrelli Motion, R. p. \_\_). If Appellants were not satisfied with the stated reason, Appellants could have moved at any time to compel Respondents to respond. Appellants chose not to file any such motion or even further discuss the matter in the briefs or at the hearing but instead waited until after the circuit court granted Respondents' motions to compel arbitration, to, for the first time, raise an issue regarding discovery. Having failed to act and having lost the motions to compel arbitration and stay proceedings, Appellants are not proceeding in good faith in their position to the Court on discovery matters.

**V. CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein and argument of counsel, Respondents request the Court to dismiss the appeal as improvidently granted, or in the alternative, affirm the trial court's rulings compelling arbitration and staying the proceedings.

June 11, 2026